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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Let me welcome everyone to the hearing before us today.


Some of you will recall that this hearing is one of several hearings that this committee has held looking at California’s public health infrastructure.  My interest in this predates September 11th, when the rest of the world began looking at public health infrastructure as it relates to bioterrorism.


During my first year in the State Assembly, I had local health officers come to me appealing for support on one of their highest priorities, which was somewhat nebulous and hard to describe at the time, and I often said to them, You guys don’t have sexy issues.  You just take care of disease and manage disease surveillance.  They were very vigilant, and they were very persistent in asking me to try to get some funding in.


The value of building and maintaining a strong and effective system of disease control and prevention seemed obvious to me when they talked about the rates of chlamydia among young women, when we saw the inability to respond in a timely manner to outbreaks up and down the state, and at any one time to be able to say, “What is the state of our health across California?”


Since my initial introduction to this seven years ago, I’ve authored a series of bills and many budget requests under three different governors now, and we’ve managed to increase our General Fund infrastructure funding budget to a measly $2 million.  We often got $7 million or so into the budget, and they were frequently blue-penciled out.  Nevertheless, as you know, we’ve now been able to distribute a lot more, but that was in federal funds.  


These are accomplishments that we should all be proud of.  The Legislature has been wonderful.  I remember one year I had a coauthor with Senator Leslie.  That was a moment in time that probably will not be revisited anytime in my career, but he really understood particularly with rural counties what the risk was in those counties, as they have small budgets, in their attempting to fund, I think, the essential foundation of our public health system.  We’re now, I fear, leaving California’s residents needlessly at risk when in fact we should be doing a heck of a lot more.


It’s been encouraging to see public health become a higher priority.  It’s taken on a very high profile since 9/11 with the anthrax scare, and names that I had only read about on a national level I saw flashed across our television screen for weeks as we began to see a discussion from the national public health figures, American Public Health Association, as well as our California representatives.


So, we have an opportunity, one, to have a long, overdue dialogue on the state of our public health infrastructure; two, to recognize as a state that public health is a core component of a public safety system.  Much as the public health officers don’t want to be necessarily always grouped into the public safety (police, fire, sheriffs) model, I’ve often said to them that it’s a stronger political base and you ought to latch on to it.  We’ll get them badges and uniforms soon.


We need to do a better job protecting the health of Californians against both potential threats, including bioterrorism, and existing threats, including influenza, SARS, West Nile, not to mention HIV, hep-C, TB, and other infectious diseases.  These diseases are more likely than any anthrax attack or any other underlying sexy bioterrorism threat to harm the health of Californians more than we can even understand, and that really is the core function of public health.  How do we do it better?


We have a health crisis in California.  Many of you will agree that many of these crises fall under the category of “chronic disease.”  Many of you—Senator Escutia and certainly Senator Kuehl—have been trying to get ahead of the curve on obesity prevention and how we put a focus on wellness and health and prevention in our state.  We can’t minimize infectious disease control and, of course, bioterrorism, but if we look at what diseases are taking the largest numbers of Californians’ lives and making us ill and straining our system fiscally—those diseases that are shortening the life span and compromising the quality of life in our state—it’s chronic disease.  When we look at which diseases are costing the state far more than the rest, again, it’s heart disease; it’s diabetes; it’s cancer.  It’s many of the things that we have the power to change as a culture, and I think we’re at the turning point of that.


So, today’s hearing is focusing primarily on a report that was published about a year ago by the Little Hoover Commission entitled, To Protect and Prevent:  Rebuilding California’s Public Health System.  We also have, I think, an opportunity today, however, to begin.  We’ve asked the RAND Corporation to present their findings from their own study of the Little Hoover Commission report and, independent of that report, on California’s general level of readiness for significant public health emergencies.  There’s a little clip in some papers today where they will share with you in their presentation how they did an assessment on the ability of these counties to respond to emergencies, and we’ll hear from them today.  We’re delighted to have them with us and to be presented with another study to help us understand the weaknesses and gaps in our public health system.


We also have the LAO to advise us, per my request, of the major recommendations from the Little Hoover Commission report:  whether there are potential savings policy-wise fiscally, including some information about how things are done in other states, and potential pitfalls of these policies and fiscal implications.


Finally, we’ve asked all the witnesses on the third and fourth panel to specifically share their organizations’ positions on the various recommendations made by the Little Hoover Commission report.


In terms of timing, I think my staff has asked both RAND and the LAO to present their new research and analysis in fifteen minutes each; each individual witness subsequently to keep their testimony to five minutes.  I know that all of us have spent a lot of time in hearings that have gone too long, and I don’t want that to be the case today.  But I want my colleagues to be able to weigh in with some opening comments and then begin with the RAND Corporation representatives.


Comments/questions from committee members?


Let’s begin and have those who are here representing RAND:  Dr. Nicole Lurie, Dr. Robert Otto Valdez, and Dr. Jeffrey Wasserman.  Welcome.


DR. NICOLE LURIE:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and members of the committee.


My name is Nicole Lurie, and I’m a physician and RAND researcher, and it is an honor to have the opportunity to participate today.  I’m here today with two of my RAND colleagues, as you mentioned:  Bob Valdez and Jeffrey Wasserman. 


The three of us, together with others at RAND, have recently completed the study that you alluded to, looking at the local public health system in California with a particular focus on preparedness in California.  The findings of our study are being released today via RAND’s website and through a web-exclusive report in the Journal:  Health Affairs.  We’re here today to share with you some of the key findings and recommendations.


Just as a bit of history, about two years ago we were approached by members of the Little Hoover Commission staff and asked if we would examine various aspects of the state’s public health infrastructure.  They were specifically interested in having us conduct a gap analysis to understand what was needed and what it would cost.  They were most concerned about how well the public health system would protect Californians in the event of a major public health emergency in the form of a contagious infectious disease, which covers a broad spectrum of threats, as you mentioned, from bioterrorism to SARS, to pandemic influenza, or even a new disease.  We, by the way, take seriously your comments about diabetes, obesity, and heart disease . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


DR. LURIE:  . . . and the degree to which they are truly major public health threats in the state and in the nation.


With the generous support of the California Endowment, we embarked on about an eighteen-month study.  A grant from Kaiser Permanente to RAND Center for Domestic and International Health Security, which I co-lead, also supported some of this work.  And all of us involved—the RAND team, the Endowment, the Little Hoover Commission staff—all of us recognized at the outset, as you do, that public health is about a lot more than preparedness for an infectious disease emergency or bioterrorism.  But it turns out that looking at this issue at this point in time provides a very useful way to look at other aspects of the public health infrastructure.  It’s sort of a window into a much larger set of issues.


So, to make a long story short, to begin with, it turns out that there are no existing agreed-upon public health performance standards.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me interrupt you for a moment to let my colleagues know that the RAND draft report is in your packet, and it’s really quite helpful.


I apologize.


DR. LURIE:  No problem.


So, there are no standards, especially in the area of preparedness.  And so, we had, as a result, to develop and apply a set of innovative methods to answer the questions proposed.  I’ll describe them briefly just so you’ll know what we did and then go on.


First, we reviewed about 25 different sets of checklists and recommendations developed by various governmental and private organizations about preparedness.  They’re in the report.  It’s kind of amazing that there are 25 of them.  Each one of them is different, but the really stunning thing is that there’s barely a shred of evidence to underpin any of the recommendations in any of them.  So, that makes the starting point a little bit difficult.


So, we put together an expert panel, reviewed all of these measures as well as the recommendations from the CDC, and came up with an interim set of performance measures to be used for this work, and the report provides more detail about how we did this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which wasn’t in your packet, but we’re going to get it to you.  We had to embargo it.


DR. LURIE:  I’m sorry.  Today it’s on RAND’s website, so people can find it afterwards.  I have one extra copy with me if anyone wants it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s okay.  We’ll take care of that.


DR. LURIE:  That’s fine.


Anyway, working with these measures we then developed a tabletop exercise, sort of akin to those used in the military and others, that allowed participants to grapple with a wide range of issues likely to arise during an infectious disease outbreak or bioterrorist attack.  With the strong advice and input from members of HOAC, CCLHO, and others around the state, we asked eight public health jurisdictions to participate in a two-day site visit which included a day of interviews with key stakeholders and participation in this day-long tabletop exercise.  Seven of the eight agreed to participate, and these seven taken together include about 39 percent of the state’s population and cover urban and rural, small, medium, and large jurisdictions, north and south, and represent places both to carry out their own functions and those that contract back key functions to the state.


I’ll say at the outset that we promised these jurisdictions confidentiality and anonymity, so I won’t be sharing with you the results that relate to any one particular jurisdiction—even if you push.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I think that’s wise.  That’s the whole Lakers-Kings thing.  [Laughter.]


DR. LURIE:  I, myself, was a Timberwolves fan.


Let me say at the outset that all of the jurisdictions have been hard at work, despite what was a really slow start for receipt of the CDC-related funds at a local level.  Each of the health jurisdictions we studied has undertaken significant preparedness activities.  Some of them have related to the CDC and DHS efforts.  Others have related to the governor’s Office of Emergency Services efforts, and they’ve included general planning, smallpox plans, and identifying bioterrorism coordinators.  At this point, though, all of the jurisdictions can receive messages from the California Health Alert Network (CAHAN), and they can all be on the phone at the same time with the state health officer.  And I should point out that that wasn’t the case when we started.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That, as simple as it is, is a huge improvement.


DR. LURIE:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Unfortunately.  I mean, it’s not a statewide stellar[?] performance.


DR. LURIE:  We would agree with you.


As you know, public health jurisdictions across the state vary a lot in their organizational arrangements:  their size, scope, their locally defined responsibilities, the quality of their leadership, their available resources, et cetera.  But in both of our site visits and our exercises, what we found was really widespread variation among local health jurisdictions with respect to their ability to respond to infectious disease outbreaks and other public health threats.


In our assessments, two jurisdictions were particularly well prepared, and one was particularly poorly prepared, and the other sort of fell in the middle.  As a result, we really have to conclude that California residents don’t enjoy an equal level of protection against a wide array of public health threats even after accounting for either real or perceived differences in the health risks that they face and different locations face.


Although our analysis focused on this preparedness issue, we found similar variation in activities aimed at addressing chronic disease, and we did within the study a small pilot that was aimed at looking at the preparedness to deal with the diabetes epidemic because we thought that the same tools ought to apply.  You know, we’re very early on in that, and we’re not able yet to complete that work, but we did find, again, widespread variation in the activities aimed at addressing chronic diseases.  So, some jurisdictions reported that they do nothing, while others have quite robust programs.  


Third, despite the differences and the size and organization of the public health jurisdictions that we studied, many of the perceived gaps identified in relation to preparedness were similar, and they included things like training of existing public health staff to assume backup roles in the event of an outbreak; strategic planning; community health assessments, which some jurisdictions hadn’t been able to do for ten or twelve years; workforce needs, particularly in the area of epidemiology and lab capacity; and access to legal counsel that knew something about public health law.  


In fact, we observed at the same time a lot of redundancy and inefficiency, as many of these jurisdictions had undertaken separate but parallel efforts to address some of these gaps.  In other words, each jurisdiction’s been really left on its own devices to fend for itself in the bioterrorism preparedness activities, and as result, numerous basic activities seem to be done multiple times in multiple ways.  Examples range from developing staff training programs in many sites to rewriting lab manuals for how to do specific tests and others.  However, all of the jurisdictions identified the need for a robust information system that would automate regular disease reporting from labs and hospitals, receive and map new cases in the event of an outbreak, and serve as a tool to manage outbreak investigation, contact tracing, vaccination, prophylaxis, et cetera.


Fourth, strong central leadership and coordination of public health appears to be lacking.  We found that for the most part, study participants did not believe that they could rely on the California Department of Health Services to address many needs common to many jurisdictions or that there was strong central leadership to facilitate coordination or sharing of these resources, which is why we saw these parallel activities.  At least with regard to preparedness, this results in a fragmented system in which each jurisdiction, as I said before, has to fend for itself, and there was a lot of duplication from place to place.


One exception to this I want to highlight was the Public Health Laboratory.  Jurisdictions went out of their way to at least feel as though in an emergency that required help from the Public Health Laboratory they would be able to count on it being there; although, many recognized, still, that it was under-resourced and had a ways to go. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I was going to say.  I mean, we’re struggling with funding that in the department now.  It’s good to hear that it’s useful and helpful.  The question is:  Can we adequately fund it?


DR. LURIE:  I think it’s a really important question and one I don’t think we can afford to duck.


Another consequence of the lack of leadership is that there is a lot of ambiguity around the appropriate roles for local health jurisdictions vis-à-vis local health agencies with a stake in emergency preparedness as well as with DHS.  For some key activities, there was really little agreement about what local health jurisdictions should do when faced with an emergency as well as how they should do it.  We also noted again that beyond preparedness there doesn’t appear to be a widely shared understanding of what public health is or agreement about the kinds of activities public health agencies are responsible for.


Sixth, in most jurisdictions we studied, involvement of community groups and public health preparedness efforts, particularly those that represent or serve underrepresented minority communities, was significantly lacking.  While this wasn’t always the case when it came to some other public health activities—like diabetes, for example—we found that some of the jurisdictions that we visited had really incomplete knowledge of exactly where their vulnerable population groups were or how to reach them or communicate with them.  We note historically that poor and minority populations are some of the most vulnerable in an infectious disease epidemic, and that’s part of the reason that we’re so concerned about this, aside from the fact that public health agencies can’t do it alone without their community partners.


And finally, we’re concerned that the current focus on public health preparedness activities may have a hidden cost.  There was substantial evidence that reassignments of staff to accomplish preparedness functions coupled with preexisting workforce shortages and county-level cuts in public health budgets are compromising other public health functions.  We heard multiple examples of retrenchments in essential programs like sexually transmitted disease and TB contact tracing or teen pregnancy prevention programs.


Improvements in the public health infrastructure resulting from recent investments of preparedness should create an unprecedented opportunity to strengthen public health.  However, countervailing pressures which stem in part from California’s fiscal crisis, but not only that, place the likelihood of capitalizing on this opportunity at risk.  And I think this is a key message that we really want to convey.


Although the results of our analysis have raised significant concerns about the public health infrastructure in California, we also think that they’ve pointed the way toward improving our ability to protect California residents from a wide array of public health threats.  Let me describe to you some of our recommendations.


As a first step, we believe that the state should create a high-level commission to examine alternative ways of organizing public health in California and to develop and come to a shared understanding of what public health is and what it does.  Such a body should focus on the role of strong public health leadership at the state level and what it takes to support it as well as on the nature of the state and local relationships.


Meanwhile, in the short run, centralization and regionalization of some functions and sharing of resources among others will likely lead to greater effectiveness and efficiency.


We recognize that any process that involves rearranging responsibilities is likely to be contentious and will need to account for the political realities of state and local jurisdictional control and funding.  Hence, the process is obviously going to be a difficult one, but it must be fair, evidence-based, and neutral but have as its overriding goal a system that efficiently protects and improves the public health across the entire state.


Secondly, a set of objective performance measures for preparedness should be developed, implemented, and refined as needed.  Preparedness in jurisdictions should be regularly exercised based on these measures.  Such a system would go a long way, we think, to clarifying any expectations and responsibilities of local public health agencies and ensure accountability.  Ultimately, such a measurement system should extend beyond preparedness to other aspects of public health.


Third, improve the statewide epidemiology information system.  A robust information system is the backbone upon which a coordinated public health set of activities should be built.


Fourth, a greater effort must be made to generate increased community involvement and preparedness in other public health activities.  Community involvement in defining issues and planning responses is a linchpin to successful implementation of any public plan.  We’ve certainly seen from the anthrax episodes in Washington, D.C. and all the issues with Brentwood postal workers and others what happens when you don’t have community involved.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Lurie?  I apologize.  I’m going to have to step out and go to the Insurance Committee; then I will be right back.  I’m going to ask Senator Kuehl to chair in my absence.  I apologize.  It’s that time of the year.


DR. LURIE:  I hear you.


I think I was up to number five, which is that we have to build and maintain a highly skilled public health workforce.  In virtually all jurisdictions, key members of the workforce are aging into retirement, and there is little evidence of secession planning.  Because of overall workforce shortages, local jurisdictions are competing with one another for scarce human resources with little regard for how human resources might be used most efficiently.  Workforce planning must occur at all levels.  Salary structures and archaic hiring practices at both state and local levels will need to be revised in order to recruit and retain highly qualified staff and to create a pipeline for public health workforces in the future.


Investment and training is needed for existing public health staff at all levels, from leadership development and incident command structure training to cross-training public health professionals to fulfill critical functions during a public health emergency.  Such training could occur in an efficient and effective way through coordinated planning and sharing of resources, and while this isn’t a California-specific issue, California has especially pressing workforce needs.


Finally, additional resources will be necessary to improve public health preparedness and to improve local public health systems overall.  During the course of our study, we attempted to estimate the additional resources needed to improve preparedness functions at the local level if they’re expected to engage in protecting the public health against infectious disease outbreaks, and this really is only the estimate for preparedness but not for the rest of public health.  Our estimates are that between 72 and 96 million dollars are needed annually in addition to resources expected as a result of the CDC and HRSA grants from the federal government.  However, we could not estimate how much this amount could be reduced by creating greater efficiencies.  Furthermore, in the jurisdictions we studied, we found evidence that additional resources are needed to ensure that essential public health services are available in all locations and to cover a wide range of issues that face the state on a daily basis.


Before I close I want to quickly address an issue that I know has been a concern to some of those who have reviewed our findings, and that’s the issue about generalized ability.  Our findings are based largely on intensive studies of seven jurisdictions.  They were deliberately selected with a lot of input from the public health community to cover a broad range of jurisdictional characteristics.  We went to significant effort (described in our report and which I can tell you about later) to assess whether these jurisdictions were fundamentally different than others in the state.  Our finding of variation holds whether we studied seven jurisdictions or all sixty-one, which we think would have been a pretty inefficient use of resources.  We suspect that we might have found more variation and perhaps some additional gaps if we’d studied more areas but that the key messages would have been the same.


In closing, we believe that while California has made progress in improving our ability to prepare for and respond to an infectious disease outbreak or bioterrorist attack, much more work needs to be done.  Additionally, we’re concerned that other public health programs are not getting the attention and resources that they require, which we may all come to regret sooner or later.  


At the same time, we believe that stronger leadership at the state coupled with a comprehensive assessment of the ways in which public health services are organized and delivered throughout the state will produce efficiency gains and improvements in the public health system’s performance.  We’re encouraged by the new team in place at the Department of Health Services but want to point out that a few individuals alone, absent significant structural changes and dedicated resources, cannot accomplish what’s really required.  It’s a responsibility of a much larger group of stakeholders to develop a blueprint for improvement.


Thank you.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  Thank you, Dr. Lurie.


I know that the chair allocated fifteen minutes for this entire report on the RAND study, and I know that Dr. Valdez and Dr. Wasserman were here to support and embellish if necessary, but we don’t want to be discourteous.  Do you wish to add anything to Dr. Lurie’s presentation?


Thank you.  Thank you very much.


The next panel has to do with the fiscal implications of the Little Hoover Commission report, and we invite Mr. Carson and Ms. Pedroza from our LAO.


Welcome.


MS. CELIA PEDROZA:  My name is Celia Pedroza, and I’m with the Legislative Analyst’s Office, and I’m here with Dan Carson from the LAO as well.


In response to a request from the committee chair, we were asked to evaluate three of the recommendations that the Little Hoover Commission had included as part of its 2003 report on the state’s public health system.  Specifically, those recommendations were for the Legislature to establish a standalone public health department, to create a position of a surgeon general to oversee and direct that department, and thirdly, a recommendation to establish a public health board to serve as an advisory body to the surgeon general.


As you’ll recall, the Little Hoover Commission had raised a number of issues and concerns regarding the state’s public health structure and specifically had voiced some concerns that the department had an extra heavy emphasis within its programs and budgets that targeted just specifically to Medi-Cal activities.  The commission also had some concerns about the decentralization of public health activities across a number of independent departments.  There was also a concern regarding the lack of a scientific public health or a medical representative in the governor’s cabinet.  To address these deficiencies in addition to many others that the commission had identified in its report, it had recommended these three approaches to strengthening the public health structure.


In general, our analysis finds potentially mixed results from implementing such a reorganization as envisioned by the Little Hoover Commission.  Given potential tradeoffs to each of the recommendations, we believe that pursuing any of these recommendations is a policy call for the Legislature.  However, today, to aid you in considering these recommendations, we’re prepared to present a number of advantages and disadvantages to the recommendations for you to bear in mind alongside your public health policy priorities.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Is there a prepared response that I can follow along?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The LAO’s report?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that not in the packet?  Our staff will pass it out.  I apologize.


Let me just take a moment to thank and welcome Assemblymember Rebecca Cohn for joining us.  I extended the invitation for the chair of the Health Committee on the Assembly side to be a part of not only the Little Hoover Commission’s report but, of course, the RAND report and LAO’s comments on the Little Hoover Commission report.  So, I thank you for joining us.  After their presentation, if you want to make some comments, feel free to do so.


I also want to acknowledge Dr. Jack Lewin.  He has a flight to catch, so I had promised that I would allow him to speak prior to his flight.


But please continue.


MS. PEDROZA:  Well, we’ll keep our comments brief.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No—we appreciate the work you’ve put into this.


MS. PEDROZA:  Looking at the first recommendation regarding establishing a public health department, the Little Hoover Commission had envisioned that this department would concentrate and oversee what it termed as “core public health functions.”  And examples of functions that would be shifted to this new public health department would include activities such as epidemiology, communicable disease control, clinical preventative medicine, food, drug, and water safety.  These are all activities currently located within the Department of Health Services.  Additionally, the Little Hoover Commission had envisioned shifting over some activities that are currently under OSHPD, and those are primarily the data collection, the health planning, and workforce development activities.  And lastly, the Little Hoover Commission had recommended shifting all of the EMSA activities to this new department.


We also just want to point out that the commission had envisioned that this public health department would not be part of the Health and Human Services Agency and that its director would report directly to the governor as a member of the cabinet.


In general, we identified four main advantages to the Little Hoover Commission’s recommendation.  At first we believed that it would provide an opportunity to centralize a lot of the health activities on improving the state population’s health through public health programs.  We believe that this is currently possible given that the Department of Health Services dedicates a significant portion of its staff and financial resources to Medi-Cal service delivery.  It’s reasonable to expect that the distribution of these resources right now are affecting the focus of the current department.


Secondly, our analysis indicates that public health programs have experienced a greater reduction and fewer augmentations in resources compared to Medi-Cal to the extent that these reductions are slower growth or a reflection of the department’s overall priorities.  It’s possible that by separating these public health activities for Medi-Cal you would put the public health budgets in a better position to compete for budgetary resources.


And thirdly, depending on how this new public health organization was structured, a centralization of public health programs could actually expedite policy and budgetary decision-making.  We observe that within the Department of Health Services, issues that are raised at the program level have to actually pass through, in fact, as many as six different levels of management review before arriving at the director’s desk.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That explains the delay.


UNIDENTIFIED:  Some of it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Some of it.


MS. PEDROZA:  And lastly, an additional advantage that we identified is that a centralization of the public health functions in one department may actually reveal funding opportunities that currently are not as apparent or accessible when the programs are located in separate departments.


On the flip side, we also identified a few disadvantages to this Little Hoover Commission’s recommendation to create a separate department.  Our analysis suggests that the location of this department outside of the Health and Human Services Agency would probably hinder state efforts to coordinate health-related programs and activities.


Secondly, we believe that a separation of the Department of Health Services’ Public Health Program from Medi-Cal could lead to missed opportunities for the integration of public health findings—such as research or information gained in the field—into healthcare delivery systems.


And lastly, we identified a third disadvantage to this recommendation which specifically pertains to OSHPD and EMSA.  Shifting the departments, as the Little Hoover Commission has recommended, to this new public health department would actually mean a lower emphasis would be placed on the activities that are currently taking place in EMSA and OSHPD, and the Legislature would only need to consider whether or not that shift and that lower emphasis was consistent with its legislative priorities.


Before jumping along to the Little Hoover Commission’s recommendation to establish a position of surgeon general, we do want to note that, as you had requested, we evaluated whether it would be possible to implement this recommendation at no or at little cost to the state.  In examining that possibility, we looked at the main administrative functions within the three departments—within EMSA, OSHPD, and the Department of Health Services—and we assume that savings could be achieved by eliminating certain high-level management positions.  On the flip side, there would also be an additional cost from having to add positions that maybe didn’t exist within OSHPD or EMSA.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, possibly revenue-neutral.  It’s certainly not a case to be made about saving significant dollars but at least not an increased cost.


MS. PEDROZA:  Certainly.  Our analysis specifically found that from shifting the personnel from EMSA to OSHPD to this new department and shifting the personnel within DHS to this new department would result in a modest net savings in total department funds of a modest amount:  $47,000.  But it would also result in a net cost to the General Fund.  And the reason why there’s a divergence in the impact on the General Fund versus the total federal funds is that you would be shifting management positions from departments that are heavily reliant upon special funds, such as in OSHPD and EMSA, to a department that would be more reliant upon General Fund.


Quickly now to address the recommendation to establish a position of a surgeon general, to kind of refresh everyone’s memory, the Little Hoover Commission had recommended that this position lead the new public health department and that the individual be a physician who is selected from a pool of candidates recommended by the new public health board (which we’ll describe later on in our presentation).  The candidates would be recommended based upon specific criteria:  scientific, medical, public health, leadership, and management.  Again, as noted earlier, the commission envisioned that this position would report directly to the governor.


We identified two main advantages to this recommendation.  First, we believe that establishing a state surgeon general to direct this department and requiring that individual to have a medical background would increase that individual’s credibility with the public, other medical professionals, other state entities, and even the private sector.  Additionally, we believe that by requiring a medical background as a qualification of that individual, you could greater ensure continuity in that individual skill-set between administrations.


The main disadvantage, however, for you to consider is that this recommendation would ultimately create two potentially conflicting voices at the state level on health matters.  You would have a surgeon general reporting directly to the governor as well as the Health and Human Services Agency secretary.


Now, with regard to the last recommendation we were asked to evaluate regarding the establishment of a public health board, it’s our understanding that the Little Hoover Commission had envisioned that this entity would be made up of volunteers charged with increasing public involvement in the development of public health policies, regulations, and programs.


We found that there’s a couple of main advantages to this proposal.  First, we believe that establishment of such a board could provide a venue for discussion of public health matters, and this is something that doesn’t exist broad-based on a formal basis right now.  Additionally, we think that the state would stand to benefit from access to additional experts in the public health field.


However, our discussions with public health experts in California leads us to believe that there’s actually mixed opinions as to whether the creation of this entity would actually be effective.  We would recommend that if you were to pursue this approach that you should consider a number of factors that would greater ensure the effectiveness of this entity, and these factors would include:  ensuring that the entity had a clear role and responsibility laid out in its charter; making sure that the line of reporting was clear between the entity and either the governor or the director of the department or the general public; and lastly, that the entity be provided sufficient staff and financial resources to support its activities.


Those are the main advantages and disadvantages that we identified in our response to you, and we’re available to answer any questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Let me allow Assemblymember Cohn to weigh in on comments and invite Dr. Lewin to come forward.  I don’t know, Mr. Carson, if you were going to also . . .


MR. DAN CARSON:  No, ma’am.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  And Jack, I know you’ve got a plane to catch.  We’re going to allow a change in the schedule.


Welcome again.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER REBECCA COHN:  First, thank you, Senator Ortiz, for inviting me.  I think it’s useful to have both houses listening to the same information and sometimes at the same time.  


I certainly have concerns about public health efforts in California, and any additional focus that we can put on that I think is good.  We had a hearing yesterday on the prison healthcare system and public health and safety concerns as it relates to some recent outbreaks of tuberculosis in the prison system and the CDC’s elimination of the controls within the prison with regard to tracking TB cases.  So, I think this has implications as it relates to the spread of communicable diseases across the State of California.  


One of the concerns that I have—and I’m hoping to get some information out of this informational hearing—is I’m curious to see the different potential solutions here in terms of creating this separate entity and a separate focus and what mechanisms are going to work best.  The thing that I am looking for is a way to provide greater focus without eliminating oversight.


And I have a bit of a concern with regard to just putting this position as a cabinet-level position reporting and answering to the governor.  It seems that there’s sort of a trend in that direction that I’ve been watching, and I don’t think that. . . . you know, I want to say that I don’t think oversight is bureaucracy.


So, I think that the Legislature has an important role to play here in terms of the policy aspects, and I want to make sure that if we are considering a move in terms of a greater focus, that we don’t eliminate greater oversight, and that’s kind of what I’m listening for.


So, I appreciate being included.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Assemblymember Cohn.


I had to leave the room to go to the Insurance Committee, and I missed the tail end of the RAND Corporation’s report—which was really helpful—and we’re in LAO now, but I think we’re going to have an opportunity for questions and answers of all the speakers.  Certainly, the public health officers and I know the county health executives are here and others in the public health community.  So, I think you guys should all be ready for great questions, so stand nearby.  


Thank you, but just don’t leave, obviously.  Thank you so much.  I really appreciate the overview of what we asked you to do.


We’re deviating from the schedule a bit.  Well, we’re actually on             track with Panel IV:  Little Hoover Commission Report:  Discussion of Major Recommendations of Little Hoover Commission Report. 


So, the first panel—I’m going to ask others to come forward, but from CMA is Dr. Jack Lewin.  Thank you for joining us.  I’m going to ask Marty Gallegos, who is the chief legislative advocate for the California Healthcare Association, to also come forward.


And you may begin.  


DR. JACK LEWIN:  Thank you, Madam Chairperson.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for being here.


DR. LEWIN:  I’m Jack Lewin.  I’m a physician and the CEO of the California Medical Association, representing 35,000 somewhat frustrated doctors in California today, but we have great hopes for the future of health and healthcare in California.


By the way, I was one of the contributors to the RAND study and strongly support the recommendations there and note that California has been eligible for $100 million of federal funds without state match . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Don’t remind us.


DR. LEWIN:  . . . which we need to implement as soon as possible; obviously, to our advantage.


The Little Hoover Commission really put out a visionary report in terms of its report on protecting and preventing and rebuilding the California public health system.  CMA is a strong supporter of that report and of carving out a new public health agency to provide appropriate leadership in these regards in California.  We’re also very supportive, Madam Chairperson, of the legislation that you’ve introduced in that regard, and thank you very much for that leadership.


We believe that a budget-neutral approach is possible to create this kind of agency today, and that’s an opportunity that we can’t apply necessarily to some of the recommendations in the RAND report and some other visionary ideas about how to rebuild the infrastructure in California.  We can create this new agency and bring together within the existing state government the leadership needed to at least begin the direction the Little Hoover Commission has envisioned for the future of public health.


I think we’re fortunate that Governor Schwarzenegger has recruited as one of the new professionals in the DHHS Dr. Richard Jackson from the Centers for Disease Control.  He has been a visionary, and he’s been here in California in the past as well, but he certainly offered a lot of vision to the nation as the deputy to the CDC director over the years, and I think he will certainly be a tremendous asset to us as we consider the creation of this new agency.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And he’ll be before this committee tomorrow as we do the informational hearing on the lead candy issue, I believe.  I’ve heard wonderful things about him as well.


DR. LEWIN:  He’s even talking about, you know, We’re going to deal with high fructose syrups and trans fats and all the other kinds of interesting things.  California may be way out in front in the nation in this regard.


But core public health functions do need attention:  infectious disease control, disease management—the whole array of the core of public health.  These are critical to our workforce and to the health and wellbeing of our society.  When one considers the catastrophic conditions developing in California with respect to healthcare costs and the financing of healthcare and the fact that more and more employers are deciding to bail out, if you will, on dependent coverage and on, in fact, employee coverage as healthcare premiums rise, we have got to attend to the health and wellbeing of our population.  We tend not to consider the enormous financial implications of not providing excellence in public health across the board in terms of the ability of the public health system to prevent morbidity and mortality and actually reduce our healthcare spending in some ways to help us out there.


Coordination of public health activities also represents an important challenge, and we are deficient in that regard.  We can’t do good disease control.  We certainly couldn’t respond to a disaster or a bioterrorism event in California in an effective way today if that were to happen.  We all want to think we can do that, but if something like that happened to us, we would suddenly become aware across the state of horrendous communications and coordination difficulties that we would experience simply because we haven’t invested in the kind of statewide agency that’s needed for that kind of disease control, for environmental kind of crises, and for other public health issues.


It’s important to consider the coordination of epidemiology and the core public health functions with health status monitoring, and to do that, there needs to be a data gathering function that is centralized in this new agency.  And so, it’s heartening to note that OSHPD could be part of this whole process because that would be the appropriate home for that kind of data collection and data collecting activities.


Coordination of health status improvement ought to be the ultimate goal of such an agency.  We think about the epidemic of childhood obesity that confronts us today and the resulting diabetes and heart disease and other kinds of catastrophic costs that we will face as a society, and we know that a healthcare system. . . . as much as I’m as a physician wedded to providing the very best medical care, we know that by the time people get to the medical care system with many of these problems, we’re not able to do what needs to be done in terms of prevention.  So, we’re talking about with the public health agency the coordination of housing and labor and community design and transportation and many, many other factors that contribute to health status improvement and wellbeing, and that’s the kind of leadership this agency could provide at the same time that we would have a DHS that could focus its energies on the very important functions of managing the health insurance costs related to publicly funded insurance and Medicaid and related services.


In summary, California has historically been a leader in health and healthcare innovation.  We once had a glorious history in terms of public health and environment.  In fact, we had laboratories in public health and environmental health that were the envy of the nation, and they have certainly declined in terms of their ability to do the work that we need for the future.  We can’t allow our system to decline in this way.  Similarly, we cannot recruit and retain the kind of expertise and scientific acumen needed to restore California’s commitment to public health, to excellence in public health, to environmental wellbeing, and to optimal health status without this kind of agency.  The California Medical Association sees this as one thing that could be accomplished—a new agency—in a budget-neutral fashion.


We’re not so wedded to all of the details that are there as to moving forward and creating this new agency, whether it be part of the DHHS umbrella or as an independent agency.  We think we need to move and to accomplish this now before we have to face some kind of crisis that in fact will bring us to our knees and cause us to regret not having taken the action.


I thank all of you here for your interest in this issue and for your leadership, and thank you for the opportunity to comment on supporting the Little Hoover Commission.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your comments.


Questions?


SENATOR JOHN VASCONCELLOS:  One quick question.  Jack, wasn’t there a public health department in California some years ago that was abolished?


DR. LEWIN:  I think so.  As you know, I was the commissioner of health in Hawaii where we had parallel agencies.  We had an agency that managed the Medicaid program and the SCHIP program, and I was the director of the public health agency, and that was a remarkable opportunity there.  The decision was made there to split the two functions.  That may not be the case now given the budget crisis, but I think California at one time, way back in history, did have its own public health agency.


What happened, I believe, is that the cost of providing healthcare. . . . as public health assumed more and more of the healthcare services functions of the uninsured and the rising numbers of uncompensated care, related conditions, and individuals, the whole core of necessity shifted to putting the dollars into healthcare services.  And that wasn’t a bad thing.  That was something we, as a society, needed to do.  Unfortunately, instead of funding a new service, we diminished public health as we created healthcare services responsibilities, and that’s the predicament we find ourselves in today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think a lot of the models at the local level post-Prop. 13 took on different prioritizations.  There was a time in which a public health nurse visited every newborn in every county and played a role with the new parents on how to be good parents.  I think a lot of it is the nature of how we fund our local public health system and then the roles of the state and increasing growth and a lot of the programmatic requirements on federal matches, et cetera.  You know, here we are today.


I think the Little Hoover Commission maybe identified—I think it was in the late sixties or maybe 1970s when we saw the shift from the state Department of Public Health.


Assemblymember Cohn had some questions.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  Actually, just one.  I wanted some clarification, Jack.


You indicated, I think, at the end of your remarks—and I just wanted to be sure I heard this clearly—that CMA agrees with the report in terms of the need for additional focus to be put on public health that comes out of the report, but in terms of the mechanism for how it happens, whether it’s an umbrella or a cabinet-level position, whatever, that you don’t really have a stand on that at the moment.  Is that correct?


DR. LEWIN:  Assemblywoman Cohn, I believe we would favor seeing a cabinet-level position if that were feasible, but we believe that we need to move forward right now.  In fact, if we were to have within the umbrella of DHHS as has been proposed a discreet entity that was carved out and capable of this kind of leadership, we believe that would be a significant step forward for the state, and it may turn out to be, in fact, an appropriate long-term step.  It’s just that it’s extremely difficult for an agency that’s concerned both with healthcare services and the huge costs in public health.  It’s very difficult for public health to get the kind of prominence, attention, and direction it needs.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Senator Kuehl had a question or comment.  


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, and I want to be sensitive to your time as well.


As a follow-up issue, it’s interesting to me, your testimony, about the impact on the public health system of the crisis in the private health system in that more and more resources have to be devoted, and I think appropriately devoted, to primary healthcare in our emergency areas.  As you know, it’s an issue that is of great interest to me, and I intend to try over the next decade or however long it takes to. . . . it took Wilbur Cohen thirty years.  I hope it won’t take me that long.  It took him that long to get to Medicare.  


But I think the interconnection of the issues to some extent argues against a sort of Band-Aid approach—which would be the creation of a separate department or a separate cabinet-level position related to public health—because it would not, in that way, solve the underlying problem about what we mean by public health and what the priorities of public health are; that we are not just choosing, in a sense, on our own but we’re being asked to absorb some of the responsibility.  If we had a better allocated healthcare system, I think it would allow us to think more discreetly about what public health should do and can do and how it should be funded. 


Obviously I’m a fan of my own bill and truly believe that eventually this is an approach that I think the state should take.  But I think it’s interesting to see the pressures that are put on the public health system by the failures in the healthcare system.


DR. LEWIN:  May I comment?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


DR. LEWIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


The reason that CMA is so strongly in support of the bill before us is that we would agree; that we think that that move is a good way to see in fact how effective an organization under an umbrella approach could work and provide a coordination of services in a way that might turn out to be the ideal mechanism in the long run.  I think we ought to reserve that judgment over time until we see how it performs, but it may very well be the most effective.  


I can share with you that in terms of interactions between agencies, one of the experiences I had during my sojourn to Hawaii was that as the director of public health, using the skills of epidemiologists we were able to resume the visit of a nurse to every mother at the time of birth to assess the circumstances.  And using the epidemiologic model and looking back over twenty years at those children who had been abused or neglected during their early years, we were able to come up with the ten or twelve most common environmental circumstances affecting those children and, without ever making a suggestion of abuse or risk of abuse to the mother, offer services that demonstrated a tremendous impact in the reduction of child abuse and neglect in Hawaii—affecting a whole social service agency, quite frankly, out of the realm of public health theoretically from its core values.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Out of that one . . . 


DR. LEWIN:  Out of that one epidemiologic model.  You know, I began to realize that we could look at the classroom in the kindergarten and the first grade at some behavioral issues and look at behaviors later that end up with very unpleasant results regarding prison and substance abuse and so forth and reach back to help people.


And so, I think we have a tremendous opportunity once again in California to provide leadership through this kind of agency as long as we give it the freedom to think in terms of the public health model.  So, we applaud your efforts to accomplish that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s a fascinating discussion that we’ve had over the last couple of years because I had a bill last year, and then we let it sit.  We’ve now got this bill, and we have a change in administration.


I neglected to mention that we do have Hattie Hanley here as well as Jim Mayer that did the Little Hoover Commission report that forms the foundation.  We have the RAND report and the LAO comments, and we have public comment.  We actually have, I think, a pretty incredible opportunity right now with the new administrations looking at the CPR.  Certainly no commitments and certainly no indication that this model would be one in which they would be favorable towards, but I know that they are looking very closely at a number of things in state government.  But I think we again have this opportunity with the new administration in the whole concept of focusing on public health and prevention in a community model that may assure that the planets have been aligned appropriately at this time in history.  


I have some concerns with the Little Hoover Commission report—nuances—but we’re going to hear from others who may have some concerns about the surgeon general position or the commission model:  Is that an appropriate one?  Does it have the right representatives on it?  I think all of those questions are legitimate questions.  The key question is whether we shift in a way to look at public health and whether we take the very heavy. . . . basically, health insurance programs that require so much of the resources and so much of the energy of the department now and whether those would be better placed elsewhere.  


But the key issue for me—and I think LAO may have mentioned it in their analysis—is we don’t want to weaken those programs either because they’re so critical until we get to that ideal place where Senator Kuehl would love to see us arrive.  And that’s the fragile relationship between the insurance programs—whether they be Medi-Cal or any of the other programs—versus a more proactive community model of, I think, public health.  But it really has to show not only a fiscal neutrality or savings, which we appear to have met, but more importantly a policy improvement.  But for that we ought not to be discussing this.


So, this is a process that will unfold.  I have a vehicle.  I had a vehicle last year.  Who knows whether this will be achieved before I leave, but it really is a fascinating time for us to be able to talk about it in a way where we’ve got all of the best minds even if we don’t agree on all the details.  So, thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  Just one brief interjection here.  As somebody who spent twenty years as a healthcare provider and dealt a lot with the area of fitness as a physical therapist, one of my long-time frustrations in watching the system change over time is the focus on spending the dollars on care after the fact as opposed to looking at indicators up front.  


I’ve been looking at this federal program that doesn’t have any dollars attached to it—but it’s certainly a good collection of data:  Healthy People 2010 that looks at the leading health indicators—and I did sort of a retrospective.  California has done a really, really excellent job on one of the major leading health indicators, and that’s tobacco use—or leading indicators of poor health.  Our policy-making and our focus at the state level down to the local level was very focused in this one area.  


The thing I like about not the specific details but the general subject of this is that focus, and I think if we spent as much time and effort and focus on that one leading health indicator of tobacco use as it relates to the health of California, if we spent that same time on obesity, childhood obesity, diabetes, other things, and we collected the data the same way and we focused our public policy-making in that concerted kind of way, I think our long-range health costs would be much, much less.  That’s the aspect of this that I think is very intriguing, and I like the idea of shifting a focus for a number of different reasons and not just on the homeland security side of this or whatever.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think you’re exactly right.  It is public health.  It’s not the bioterrorism and anthrax scares we keep going back to.  That, fortunately or unfortunately, was where we got our biggest confusion of dollars:  How do we effectively use it so when we go back to normalcy, as we probably already have, we can use it well in the way we haven’t funded?


Thank you.


DR. LEWIN:  Thank you so much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate your time.


We now have Martin Gallegos, who is the chief legislative advocate for the California Healthcare Association.


Welcome.


DR. MARTIN GALLEGOS:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair and Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good to see you, Mr. Former-Chair.  [Laughter.]


DR. GALLEGOS:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  


I’m Martin Gallegos with the California Healthcare Association, and I represent about 500 hospitals and health systems in the State of California.  I want to thank the committee for the invitation and the opportunity to discuss with you the recommendations of the Hoover Commission report.  We appreciate your asking us for our input, and I promise I will be brief in the interest of time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We want less bodies in your hospitals.  We don’t want them to have to go to the hospital, but thank you.


DR. GALLEGOS:  Well, thank you, Madam Chair.  Duly noted.  I’ll take that back to our members.  Thank you.


You had asked us to respond specifically to the four recommendations of the Hoover Commission, and I’d like to begin by commenting on Recommendation 1.


The first part of that, as you know, recommends that there be a separate public health department with Medi-Cal and some of the other insurance programs that serve the poor separate from some of the other responsibilities at DHS.  CHA concurs with that recommendation.  We think that it would be best to separate those two functions and have them placed in a separate division.


Now, with respect to the other part of the recommendation, which was the public health board, it’s there where DHS does not concur with the Hoover Commission.  The concept of a public health board isn’t really a new idea or a new concept.  It actually was floated around in the late 1800s when we had public health issues such as tetanus, diphtheria, and scarlet fever.  We had these major disease outbreaks.  CHA just wonders whether that type of model is something that would be appropriate in the twenty-first century as a way to approach different types of public health issues that are much different than the nineteenth century.  So, that’s one thought that we have.


We think that the reason that the board concept could be a concern is the fact that. . . . well, its volunteer board; number one, it would be a large board.  But we think that their duties and responsibilities could be very unwieldy because you’re looking at 61 different local health agencies throughout the State of California if you include counties and cities.  And we think that a better concept for dealing with that kind of a fractured. . . . or not really fractured but fractionated system would be to go toward regionalization, which is a recommendation that was put out recently in a report by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality where they recommended regional approaches to bioterrorism and approaches and responses that would ensure more efficient and effective, for example, critical response services, emergency management, outbreak investigation, and others.


So, we clearly feel that it would be much more cost-effective, rather than having 61 different agencies working separately, to regionalize them however you would want to do it—four regions; three.  I mean, that’s just something for others to hammer out the details.  But we definitely think that there would be dollar savings at the local level if we were to go with a regional type of approach.


Now, what we would recommend as something different than a board would be to have an individual.  And we would agree with Dr. Lewin that a cabinet-level position for this type of an individual would not only, as Dr. Lewin said, add greater awareness and exposure to the bioterrorism and the public health issue, but I think it would also send a strong message from the state to the rest of the nation and/or the rest of the world that we’re taking these issues very seriously; so much so that we think it deserves to be a cabinet-level position.


Moving on to Recommendation 2—and I suppose I could stop at any point and take questions, or we can do it at the end . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re not shy.  We’ll interrupt you when we want.


Go ahead.


MR. GALLEGOS:  Thank you.


With respect to Recommendation 2, which is that the state needs to take the lead on coordinating federal, state, and local efforts—again, CHA agrees, and this also is consistent with our thought, that efficient regional approach for things like communication, for capacities, for preparedness, is a much more effective and efficient tool as opposed to having, again, 61 different, separate public health jurisdictions.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  With all due respect to our public health officers out there, it is a bit burdensome at times.  But you’re right.


MR. GALLEGOS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Moving on to Recommendation 3—again, CHA concurs with the recommendation.  The state must significantly bolster technical, scientific, and physical capacity.  The more of this that can be accomplished again at the state or at the regional levels we feel the better.  Many state agencies that are outside of DHS do have excellent scientists, for example, and I think that the more that state resources could be coordinated, the much better approach we would have to the response to the needs of the public health.


Lastly, on Recommendation 4, again, CHA believes that due to the limited state and local resources, the coordination of all programs affecting the health of the public is important.  Instead of having a goal of public health funding, say, equal to fire and police, the goal should be to determine what is best for meeting the needs of the health of the public and to establish a budget across fire and police and all state agencies that would be responsible for the health of the public.


With that, I’ll conclude my remarks and be happy to entertain any questions from members of the committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Questions?


I appreciate your commenting on the four points.  As we sort through the LAO report, the Little Hoover Commission report, the RAND report, as well as we’re going to hear comment from public health officials, let me just say that the notion of the advisory board, which is the one that I think we’ve had more people disagree with that model, I think this is the first recommendation on the regional board we’ve heard, which certainly should be considered in all of this.  Hopefully, we’ll get a chance, if there are questions on the Hoover Commission report that outlines the advisory board or the commission, to comment on that and be able to clarify.  But I think that was one of the major concerns with. . . . I’m not sure if there was some concern by CHEAC.  I don’t want to misspeak because I think we’re going to hear from them as well that that might not be the best model. 


So, I appreciate that.


MR. GALLEGOS:  And it could be a regional board, or it could just be the regional entities report up to this individual who may or may not be. . . . I mean, we think it would be better at the cabinet level.  So, it could be a reporting relationship.  It could be a board who then answers to this entity, or this individual could be part of that board.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think there is some debate about whether or not the surgeon general position as the figurehead is the one that ought to be part of any kind of potential restructuring or creation of this cabinet-level department.  I think we’ll hear from the public health community whether or not that’s a good thing or a bad thing, but certainly some would argue it would elevate that visibility and that priority, and at any one time during a crisis or an outbreak, there is a figure to be the voice of California’s healthcare—public health department.


Let me hold off and go through my notes and see if I had any . . .


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  I have a couple.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Assemblymember Cohn—as I go through my notes.  Thank you.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  You know, as I’ve read through these reports, I’ve sort of in my mind looked at pros and cons in terms of the implementation—not the basis for the recommendations but the actual implementation—and that’s where my listening is right now.  I’m in agreement that we need better focus, and I’ve mentioned it before, but when I’m looking at other areas of focus in the state or where we’ve lacked efficiency, lacked focus, there are concerns that pop up.


I think certainly having a central person that can respond in the event of public health emergencies and those kinds of things are really important.  It also helps with the focus, and it helps with leadership.  But I also think that when you’re talking about public health as opposed to public healthcare, which is the distinction that Senator Kuehl made, one of the things that occurs to me is that you need a very strong, local network in each community that can respond.  And I think we can’t take that lightly.  I think that having strong central leadership is really important but also having the adequate network at the local level and adequate funding.


One of the questions I have that’s popped up in the pros and cons is when you centralize, one of the things that you do is you try to look for redundancies and efficiencies.  So, my question is:  Is that going to impact money available at the local level?  Which I have concerns with because everybody’s trying to do more with less already, particularly with underrepresented minority groups and that sort of thing.  So, that’s one of the things that shows up that is a question in my mind as people come up and testify.


So, that regional versus central raises a question for me about is there some way to have a central figure and central authority and responsibility but have also a regional focus where . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, I think we’ll hear from the public health panel, and Health Officers Association of California is the sponsor of my bill.  We’ve been pretty consistent about that local model which really drives public health.  Actually, I think this less decentralizes it in some respects.  Hopefully, we’ll hear from them that we’re not proposing to dismantled their presence.  In fact, we want to further support what they’re doing.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  And as we’re discussing all of this. . . . I mean, it’s fresh on my mind from the hearing yesterday about the TB outbreaks and how we eliminated the public health section in the prisons in an attempt to centralize and put the authority in the hands of each medical directorate at the prisons; and yet, now we don’t know where we’ve got the outbreaks, and we’ve had to shut down.  So, the central versus regional is going to come up.


Maybe you don’t have a comment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Feel free to comment, Mr. Gallegos.


MR. GALLEGOS: 
Assemblymember Cohn brings up a good point.  I mean, that is first and foremost the implementation.  Whenever you take on a task of this magnitude, seeing the implementation and having the commitment to see it implemented and be successful is always a major component of a good outcome.


The assemblymember brings up good points, and I agree—there’s pros and cons to both a centralized or a regional model that responds up to or have that individual as the fifth person as part of overseeing the regional implementation of this.


You know, some of the benefits of regionalization is you have economies of scale.  It saves money for the locals.  I agree with Assemblymember Cohn.  I mean, the locals do have some benefits.  But these are all points that are, I guess, just going to have to continue to be fleshed out, and we’ll have to hear more debate on this from other individuals, both at this hearing and in other discussions.


I think at least the concept of regionalization is deserving of being at the table and one that’s talked about.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think you’re exactly right.  I think what we’re going to hear—and they’ll be tactful in the manner in which they do it, I’m sure—is sort of the frustration of the current model regarding the relationship to the locals.  I don’t want to steal their thunder by any means.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  You know, all of this is a particular kind of opportunity given this attention on bioterrorism, but it sort of begs the question also that we’ve had these kinds of concerns from just a public health standpoint all along but we didn’t have the focus of attention.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  So, it’s an opportunity to help shape something that takes care of more than one thing at a time.


MR. GALLEGOS:  I suppose you could say it’s the silver lining that’s come out of this whole issue of the heightened awareness of bioterrorism.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think I had a hard time getting my bill out of your committee when I was in the Assembly.  No, I’m teasing.  You’re a wonderful supporter, you’ve got to know.


MR. GALLEGOS:  I don’t seem to recall, Senator.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You missed my opening comments.  It’s like before . . .


MR. GALLEGOS:  I was watching on TV.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, Assemblymember Cohn, it’s like before there was 9/11 and people didn’t know what public health was, I had people bugging me the heck, and I’m carrying bills trying to get funding in.  Under Wilson we managed to get—you can refresh my memory—but it was probably over five million or three million and maybe seven, and it was blue-penciled down.  And then Gray Davis blue-penciled it or eliminated it.  We finally got a measly two million in.  We changed the formula, and then 9/11 happens and the whole world says “Ah!”  So, again, it’s opportunity.


But let me just thank you so much for your presentation.  I assure you that you’re welcome to sit around and listen to the next panel.  And we will have others come forward because I think it’s really important that we explore those that I didn’t have a chance to raise questions.  But thank you.


MR. GALLEGOS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate your input.


Finally, let’s have our public health panel come forward, and these really are the unsung heroes and heroines that have been toiling away for years.  I keep saying we’ve got to get you guys nice fancy uniforms and badges so that you can stand there when others get the money in county funding.  But thank you so much.


We have Dr. Scott Morrow, local health officer from San Mateo.  We have Dennis Ferrero—who’s always a great witness—executive director of the California Association of Public Health Lab Directors.  Perry Rickard, who is the president and the public health director, Kings County, who is coming before this committee representing CHEAC.  And I think we also have invited, and will encourage when there’s room to come forward, the Partnership for the Public’s Health.  That’s Dr. Tony Iton as well as Marta McKenzie.  Those are the other two witnesses at the appropriate time if you want to come forward.


So, with that—who goes first?  Let’s have Dr. Scott Morrow.


DR. SCOTT MORROW:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, for having this hearing.  I represent CCLHO, the California Conference of Local Health Officers.  It’s a statutorily established public health advisory body consisting of public health officers throughout California. 


I think before I begin I want to make it very clear, it’s important for you to understand what we mean by “public health.”  There’s a lot of discussion about public healthcare.  We mean those preventive strategies, those population-based strategies, that improve the overall health of the community that we use partnerships to get at.  It’s a much more interesting conversation than we probably won’t be able to go into.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s fascinating.


DR. MORROW:  I’m going to focus just on two topics today.  One, the Little Hoover Commission, and then the RAND study, which I’m not sure you all had the chance to read.  


In that, I wanted to say that both the RAND and the Little Hoover Commission only dealt with the public safety aspect of public health which is a very small aspect of public health.  Dr. Lurie talked about it being the lens at which you can look through the rest of it, but it’s the very smallest part of public health.  Although it gets a lot of attention, it’s not the major thing that we do every day.


Little Hoover Commission—we actually presented written testimony back in January on our feelings on that.  Basically, we felt they did a really good and thorough job of explaining the public safety aspect of public health, but we didn’t want it to be considered the final comprehensive review of public health because it left out a lot of things.


We generally agreed with most of the things in the report, and I won’t go over those.  But I do want to mention what we did not support.  One was the use of the term “surgeon general.”  In fact, we did not want to do anything that militarized public health.  The idea of deputizing, the idea of uniforms, and the idea of the surgeon. . . . I know this is opposite from what you . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s physicians _____________ better over time—but a minor detail.


DR. MORROW:  But it does not position us well in our communities, which we have to deal with on a day-to-day basis.  So, anything that militarized us we did not support.  We understand the value of having a uniform and a badge, and we don’t disagree with that, but we could not perform our other functions with uniforms and badges.  


And we also did not agree with the creation of the board of health.  I think the reason for creating a board of health is to try to depoliticize some of these decisions.  It’d be great if that could do that, but we don’t actually think that that board or the way it was actually put together could actually do that.


So, that’s where we are on the Little Hoover Commission.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you a question on that point.  Is there a way as an advisory body—the multifaceted, urban, rural, demographically different impacts; just health disparities—is there a model that could prove to be a direct communication designing of policy that you would envision that would be worthwhile?


DR. MORROW:  We would like to think that CCLHO actually performs some of those functions for the state.  We try to be purely science-based.  We try not to let politics and biases come into our recommendations to the department or to the Legislature.  I’m not sure of a way to fashion . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, absent a commission, you would rely on the traditional relationships either regionally or from county directly to the department.


DR. MORROW:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


DR. MORROW:  As far as the RAND study goes, we have significant issues with the methodology of the RAND study, although we feel that most of the findings that they came up with were correct.  The four major ones being that:

· We have made some progress.  That’s great.  

· Significant variations do exist.  

· Fixing the state health department is the key.  

· And standards need to be developed.  


And I want to spend just a couple of seconds on each of those points.


You know there’s been decades of underfunding and neglect, and it’s going to take years to rebuild the public health infrastructure.  At this point it seems to be lost on both the federal government and the state.  The federal government put in $70 million last year—which is basically less than half of what’s needed—to increase basic public health infrastructure support.  The federal government is now proposing to cut this amount by 20 percent.  This is ridiculous.  Without concentrated, long-term, dedicated financial support, we will not be prepared to deal with all of the issues, not just around public safety and bioterrorism, but obesity, childhood obesity, diabetes, all of the chronic diseases that are coming our way.


Number two—there’s variation and you have to look at how local health departments are funded.  They’re mostly funded with discretionary money at the local level, and there’s almost a complete lack of funding from the state.  So, you can expect huge variations when you have that funding mechanism, and it’s particularly pronounced in small jurisdictions.  Until you address that funding mechanism, you’re going to continue to have huge variations.


Most of the issues of the RAND study are tied to poor state leadership, and we think that current state operations are a significant impediment to improving preparedness.  There is no strong central leadership and coordination.  While there are many people at DHS who are great, strong, and dedicated, the system does not seem to support them, and the state is perceived by many to be a barrier and not a partner.


With that though, however, we strongly applaud the governor and agency Secretary Belshé for understanding the importance of strong physician leadership in appointing Dr. Dick Jackson.  We’re very, very happy that he’s here.  And I talked about the surgeon general.  We very much support the idea of a state health officer; just not the term “surgeon general.”  They just announced under a temporary structure that a number of public health programs will be moving under him.


We understand that there are many ways to do this, and there are many organizational structures that are being proposed.  But we had lots and lots of discussion within our organization, and we believe that the solution that was formulated by the Little Hoover Commission which called for a separate department of public health was the best way to go, and we strongly support that.  In fact, we support your bill, SB 858—and I believe we are sponsoring it—that takes public health functions and consolidates them under a state health officer.


And we also know that the California Performance Review is happening at this time, and we’ve communicated that to them, and hopefully they’ll come to the same conclusion.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I thank you for that as well.


DR. MORROW:  It’s unknown, but we hope that’s the case.


We believe this has the greatest chance for success by providing focused attention, expertise, authority, and responsibility in this one issue.  And you talked about focused leadership, and that’s extremely important.


Last point is:  unfortunately, there are no standards in which to measure our preparation.  The RAND study brought that out.  This field is evolving.  There are some good assessment tools out there, but they have not been systemically applied in California.  We’d like to see them systematically applied.  And we support the development of strong standards, and we also support accreditation of local health departments.  If that can find its way into any bill, that would be great.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No—thank you for what you do and what you’ll continue to do whether or not we have the foresight or the wisdom to fund you adequately.  Many of us have tried.  We just don’t get to ultimately sign that budget or put money in or take money out.  Some day we’ll get a public health officer elected governor.


Let me thank you.


Question, Assemblymember Cohn?  Okay.  


Our next witness is Dennis Ferrero, who’s from Lab Directors.  Welcome, as usual.  


MR. DENNIS FERRERO:  Thank you.  Senator Ortiz, Assemblywoman Cohen, thank you for the opportunity to give our two cents in this really important venture here.


I’m Dennis Ferrero.  I’m executive director of the California Public Health Laboratory Directors Association.  We’ve been around as an association for nigh onto 54 years now.  


I represent what we call the “science centers” at local government:  the public health laboratories.  To some extent, if we didn’t have public health laboratories, frankly, we wouldn’t know what disease we’re dealing with, how to control it or what from that point, and when it’s gone, actually.  So, we think that we’re a very important part or a linchpin to the whole disease control infrastructure.  We really appreciate the opportunity to be able to let you know what we think in terms of reorganizing, if we can, the state health department.


We really support the commission’s findings of suggesting pulling out and elevating the department of public health to a cabinet-level position.  Unless public health has the light shine on it, it’s not going to get it to do.  That’s, frankly, what’s going to happen.  Putting it as a subcomponent, separated out, still within DHS, is still going to be a problem for public health to try to advocate with competing needs with Medi-Cal and other issues for what is really necessary.


Someone asked earlier what happened with the previous department of public health.  Some of us were around at that time, and there’s differing points of view of what occurred.  But in the late sixties, the thought was, frankly, that there wasn’t any more disease issues.  That’s also what helped bring down the Centers for Disease Control.  Certain political entities felt that we didn’t need that, and so, that started a slow erosion that occurred over thirty years now.  At that time it was felt that it would be better just to join the two—the medical system with the public health system—and do away with the board.


Which brings me to the next item.  We are very supportive of your bill, 858—which we have been—and would like to see this bill move forward or if there’s an administrative way to make this happen.  We agree with the CMA in that this needs to happen rather rapidly.


We also support the concept of a board.  Let me explain the reason why we think this is important.  We feel that with today’s problems there’s an awful lot of technology.  Public health deals with technology and various expertise in various areas:  physicians, laboratorians, nurses, sanitarians, a lot of epidemiologists.  About ten years ago you probably wouldn’t find very many epidemiologists in any health department.  Today you can’t find enough to hire.  We have many positions that are going unfilled.  We find this to be a more inclusive way of doing public health:  to have a board, professional and technical.  We don’t see it as a depoliticizing type of a board.  We see it as an advisory board.


Right now what happens is we have many competing individuals calling—you mentioned 61 jurisdictions—calling to the state to weigh in on their point of view.  We think a centralized board of this sort steeped in science would be the proper way to advise the position, which we also support, which is a physician/health officer/director. 


I would like to move to the next area regarding the comments about our part of public health being, what we say, part of the triad between fire and law.  We do support the commission’s basic tenor about funding.  I think basically what the commission is saying is not necessarily to fund at equal level with fire or police.  That’s not the issue.  I think the issue, really, from the commission’s report is to seek a stable funding source, as fire and police have.  To seek a stable funding source for public health.  That’s what we would like to see happen.


Most of you know that we chase diseases.  We’re categorically funded in many of our difficult areas of TB, STD, and HIV.  Funding ebbs and wanes with whatever the latest statistics are, yet the disease is ever present, and we would like to see stable funding to keep those diseases at a low level.


We would like to make a couple of comments regarding the workforce and the education.  Previously, we had noted that we feel the University of California state university system needs to step up and provide more leadership and more courses in the sciences.  We are finding that more students are seeking public health careers.  Some of them are in the pipeline.  They’re not able to get the coursework to get out in four years.  We think there’s a real opportunity for the universities to increase the capability of moving new students out.  Everyone has noticed.  You just look around the room and you can see those who’ve been around—myself, 34 years.  We’re ready to exit.  We’re moving out.  


I keep telling my staff—they say, How long are you going to be here?


I don’t think I’m going to work forty years in the field.  I’ve got 34, so figure it out.  The point being that many of the seasoned public health professionals are well into their fifties.  We have new ones coming in.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s a really important point.  I know the California Endowment has done a lot of pipeline development on health disparities to address the very issue of healthcare practitioners that go into underserved areas, and this is a key part of that pipeline development in public health, particularly when you see how it impacts poor people, communities of color, particularly with some of the chronic diseases.  I don’t know that it’s part of the Endowment’s pipeline development of public health.  They have a series of scholarship programs and mentoring programs, et cetera, but it’s certainly something that we ought to be cognizant of.  I know they’ve been really key in some of the data and supporting some of the assumptions on the public health focus, so it’d be interesting to see whether they’re focusing it all on public health pipeline development and then the resources that they distribute as they see this as a part of the solution in the health disparity.


I appreciate you because you’re absolutely right:  average public health officers, probably with the exception of a couple of the women here, but 55, male, generally, or older.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  I have a bill on workforce issues in the nursing field because we don’t have enough nurses.  It looks at federal dollars—WEEA funds—and one of the things that would be interesting is to find out what percentage of the WEEA funds are being used in these particular areas.  I would want to know if there are any.  I would suspect very little, but it might be something to take a look at as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.  Obviously, one of our huge disparities; I mean, our lack of development of nurses but particularly in the public health arena.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  And that’s 100 percent federal dollars.  So, it might be worthwhile to do an analysis of where that EDD money is being spent because there’s some big gaps there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry.  Did you . . .


MR. FERRERO:  No, that’s fine.  As you pointed out, it’s in all the professions—laboratory, epidemiology—all the areas.  It is kind of interesting, actually, that many of the epidemiologists are younger because, as I said, ten years ago we weren’t hiring them, frankly, except for a few larger departments.


On a positive note, within the last five months we’ve hired three young faces in the laboratory as trainees.  They came fresh out of college and university and seeked out public health.  That hadn’t happened for an awful long time.  And so, I think that many of the students are looking to public health as a career again, and we really should open the doors.  When the students are in college, it just takes one or two classes not there for them and they switch out of the major.  They end up saying, I’m not spending another year.  I’m going to do it in four.  I’m going to go into biotech.  I’m not going to go into this public health game.  So, there are those kinds of issues that I think are really important in the constriction of that pipeline, is the educational effort.


I’ll just segue into the training issues, which is, our laboratory and some of our other jurisdictions at the local level have trained numerous public health professionals, all the fields, and it’s an area that we need to have more state involvement and training and more support and training because that’s the next part, because many of our professionals require training before they can take their exam and work in the field.  We think it’s appropriate.  We don’t want someone who’s just out of education right into the field.  That could create some real problems in disease control especially.


I’ll try to hurry up and sum up here.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Take as much time as you need.


MR. FERRERO:  Thank you.


One of the other areas is facility.  It was mentioned briefly in the Little Hoover Commission.  As I mentioned before, our laboratory that I have in my department was built when I was in high school, and that’s way wrong because all of the equipment I have today is molecular diagnostic equipment in a facility that was built a long, long time ago.  And we’re not the only one like that.  This is a problem throughout the nation.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I toured our Sacramento lab, what? three years ago, right after 9/11, and I understand things are better now—that’s a good thing—but it was really unfortunate.  I mean, the lab was congested.  There was outdated equipment.  At the time there weren’t a lot of safety features to maintain any hypothetical outbreak of something.  There were cramped quarters.  Fortunately, things have changed, but that was post-9/11.  I mean, the labs across the state are relatively a decade or two.  A good percentage of them are at least a decade or two behind the times.


MR. FERRERO:  At least.  As I said, mine was built forty years ago.  Generally, in biotech you build out a new laboratory about every ten years.  Government, of course, is a little bit different, but forty years is way out there.  And this is an example of most laboratories in California.  And that’s part of the disparity of the RAND Corporation showing that one jurisdiction might be ahead of another, whatever.  There’s not the same kind of response for all citizens because those local needs to try to build a laboratory or a department, a public health department, have to be balanced with other things that are going on within the county.


So, what we would plead for would be something similar to a Hill-Burton funding type program where we could rebuild the infrastructure, not just one county or the next county.  As most of us all around the table here know, we’ve had numerous multi-county outbreaks.  Our disease issues don’t stay in one county.  There are no borders.  It’s sort of like air pollution control:  these things move from one county to another.  And so, every county—we’re only as strong as our weakest link, and that’s why we make the plea for rebuilding the infrastructure.  Some counties have been very fortunate and been able to rebuild, but most have not, and that’s a major issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I think that if you’re a wealthy county that’s seen a lot of growth and a lot of revenue and high income versus a poor, rural. . . . I mean, many of these rural counties basically have mutual aid agreements with adjacent counties because they don’t have the infrastructure and certainly don’t have the revenue base in growth.  Again, as I continue to say, this is a post-Prop. 13. . . . well, an underlying problem that was exacerbated when boards of supervisors have to make very difficult decisions.  And again, public health doesn’t have that face that is very sexy and generates a lot of support or fear politically, with all due respect, and that’s sort the reality.  You’ve done well, but we owed you more and we should.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  I have sort of an oddball question.  It just occurs to me—representing part of Silicon Valley, I have a lot of biotech.  I’ve toured those facilities, and they’re, like, state of the art; you know, upgraded all of the time.  I’m wondering if there’s any—and maybe this wouldn’t lend itself—but it just occurred to me in the thinking that are there any public-private partnerships with the biotech industry with regard to facilities and upgrade of facilities?


MR. FERRERO:  Not that I know of at this point in time.  It’s something that would be worth pursuing, though.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  I remember when I was in college—this is a little sidebar—but I worked with communicable diseases in the microbiology department when I was at the University of Texas.  We had absolutely state-of-the-art facilities on the campus, and then political administrations change and funding gets removed, and all of a sudden, you know, what you once had starts to disintegrate or disappear.  So, I can appreciate the cycle here; although, you’ve been on a down cycle for a while, it seems like.


MR. FERRERO:  A long time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask. . . . and I apologize but I know Mr. Rickard has got a bit of a ways—Kings County.  You’ve been in my committee before and very helpful, and I want to make sure we take your time, as well as hear from two other speakers and then public comment.  But let me ask you, Dennis, to please summarize.


MR. FERRERO:  Sure.  Last comment will be regarding regionalization.  I just want to make the point that we have to counter that and say that we do not support the regionalization of public health laboratories.  Public health laboratories are the only area of the public health department that only covers 67 percent of the jurisdictions.  There’s only 40 public health laboratories that are already regionalized around service areas.  For fifty-some years we’ve provided service at the local level.  Our model in California is not the State Laboratory providing service; it’s the local laboratory.  After 2001, that should have told us an awful lot about reducing a number of laboratories in the State of California would create bigger problems.  But that was a recommendation of the Little Hoover Commission.  We would welcome some further dialogue but would not want to go there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  I know that we’ve got a lot of details to work out.  What I’d like to do—this is our second hearing on floating the Hoover Commission report as well as inviting input from others—and my hope is that we’re going to be able to further flesh out these issues and points of disagreement where everyone is a part of those discussions.  But I appreciate that.  Now we’re going to get into those fine points and hopefully keep an interesting group of supporters together.


MR. FERRERO:  Thank you for your time and patience.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, as always.  It’s always really helpful, so I appreciate it.


MR. PERRY RICKARD:  Senator Ortiz, Assemblymember Cohn, thank you for inviting me.  


I want to step back just a little bit and share with you something that we shared with the Little Hoover Commission staff when we spoke to them about the report.  It appears to us that there’s a major factor missing in this report and also in the RAND report that I think you need to consider when you’re looking at what is public health and what kind of reorganizations need to be necessary.  And that is the Section 17000 responsibility that each one of the counties have.  Most of that responsibility in your smaller counties fit within your small county health departments.  Indigent care is handled basically two ways in California:  you’re either large enough to provide the service yourself, and you provide it through a contractual arrangement—you do your own clinics, you may have your own hospital system—or you contract with CMSP, the County Medical Services Program, which are 32 small counties that have a board of directors that work on access to indigent care.  It is a very specific part of the delivery of health services in the State of California.


I was a public health director in a state that did not have this kind of responsibility, and it adds its own certain flavor when you’re designing your services and trying to get individuals not only into care but into the public health activities that Dr. Morrow spoke to.


So, as you’re thinking about reorganization and what happens out in the counties, remember that that is there; that that is our responsibility.  The boards are responsible for it, and it’s something that has to be considered.


When we met with the Little Hoover Commission, we came up with these four bullet points.  First, that public health has been underfunded for decades.  Any attempts to restructure our public health system without addressing the lack of resources will have minimal benefit.  A rule of thumb:  If it’s required in law or state statute, it’s underfunded.  I’m serious.  An example—and this kind of popped up in the RAND report, so I wanted to add a little bit more information to it—there was a section in there that said that it appeared that some counties were not providing TB contact tracing.  At the same time that we were working on putting together and bringing up our systems under BT, we were also meeting with the state Department of Health Services’ TB Program Office who had decided that for smaller jurisdictions who had been able to work and lower the morbidity in those jurisdictions, that our money would be taken from us and that we were going to get together and try to figure out some way how to keep the services going.


So, by example, four years ago Kings County received $160,000 for TB control services from the state.  This next year I get $10,000.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  Are any of those small counties that you’re referring to also counties in which there are prisons?


MR. RICKARD:  Yes.  We have three, which is that whole other issue.


So, what happens in those small counties—you have to make a decision on healthcare.  TB control is important, so you have to move your resources around.  We still have a budget of 160 to 180 thousand dollars, but I’ve had to take other money and put it there.  And so, it wasn’t that bioterrorism came in and made us pull away from it.  It’s that it was still a responsibility very important to the county of Kings and other counties, and we had to adjust as we went through.


Second, consider restructuring within the current Department of Health Services to give public health more visibility and priority and to provide greater state leadership on critical public health issues.  We are not a supporter at this time of moving it out to a separate cabinet-level department.  We think that the current movement of making Dr. Jackson in charge of the public health side—or almost all the public health side—and Sandra Shirley on the other side is important.  That is a real good step to looking at those kinds of things.  The only thing that we have a question on is they explain the movement as “population-based services,” and we’re still trying to figure out how community licensing and certification is a population-based service.  But once we figure that out, then we’ll understand it.


Examining the current program structure within DHS for opportunities to reduce duplicative services and increase communication and integration between program areas.  We’re concerned about linkages, and we’re concerned about linkages with the Medi-Cal program.  The reason why is that many of the county health departments cobble together the funding for services—public health, nursing home visits, and others—through the mechanism of Medi-Cal administrative activity and targeted case management.  We can do that because we have the communication; we have the access to Medi-Cal.  They know us.  We know them.  We work with them.  We fund some of the activities to get that done.  That type of Medi-Cal is very important to those of us who don’t provide primary care, so you can imagine the primary care piece if you have community clinics or hospitals.  If you do move it apart, those linkages are very important, and some kind of focus on keeping those linkages active I think would be extremely helpful.


Continuing to improve collaboration and communication between state and local departments in order to create a two-partnership strategy to protect public health.  One of the issues is defining public health in California.  I think public health in California is different than public health in some other states, and I think one of those pieces is the indigent care piece.  So, you have to be careful how you define that.


And secondly, how we all work together.  On some counties the goal has been to consolidate programs and services for a whole variety of reasons.  I was involved in one of those counties and part of that consolidation.  I am happier in a pure public health department county, but that’s just because I like the types of services we can focus on.  But there are other models.  I think those models also need to be looked at.


Lastly, most of what Dr. Morrow said with regards to the report we agree with.  We do not think badges and uniforms are necessary.  We do not think that you need to have another board that’s overseeing public health.  I think you have more than enough expertise and talent in California to assist both you, the department, and the governor on this issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you.  Always succinct and helpful.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  I would just love to talk to you about the three counties that have had funding reduced in terms of tuberculosis.


MR. RICKARD:  There were many more than three.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  Well, in terms of those three that you identified to me that have prisons located in them because I’m very concerned about all of these consolidations and what practical effect it actually has on public health and public safety.


MR. RICKARD:  If I may, we have three prisons in Kings County.  When we found out that there would no longer be a public health unit in CDC, we contacted the prisons.  We have absolutely no jurisdiction within the prisons, but we definitely have a concern for the community and the individuals that live and visit people in the prisons.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER COHN:  And the employees.


MR. RICKARD:  Exactly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It might be helpful to do that in a public setting with the department and have them come in and explain that policy, which would be another interesting hearing.  


Let me thank you all.  I think it’ll prove very helpful to listen to the other testimony.


As the final two speakers come forward, let me knowledge that we have Dr. George Flores here who is at the hearing.  George, if you feel it appropriate under public comment or at some point coming forward and addressing the committee, I’d appreciate that.  I know that you played a role in the RAND report as well.  So, if there’s information we need, please know that you’re welcome to come forward.


We now have the final two speakers that are agendized:  Dr. Tony Iton and Marta McKenzie.  We’re glad to have you here today.


Welcome.


DR. ANTHONY ITON:  Thanks for having me.


Again, I’m Dr. Anthony Iton.  I’m the health officer for Alameda County.  I’m testifying today on behalf of the Partnership for the Public’s Health, which, in my view, is a very innovative program of the Public Health Institute, and Alameda County’s involvement has been simply funded by the California Endowment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We love the Endowment because they do such awesome work.


DR. ITON:  And we would concur wholeheartedly.


I’ll try to be as concise as I can.  I’m known for being very brief when necessary.


We’re headed for a collision in California.  The combination of unchecked childhood and adult obesity, persistent health disparities, increasing numbers of uninsured, and inadequate investments in chronic disease prevention are the key ingredients for a “perfect storm,” and it’s going to happen here in California.  This constellation of risk virtually guarantees that we will soon see an abrupt and unprecedented reversal in the steady gains and longevity and quality of life that we have witnessed during the last century.  The most frustrating part of all of this is it’s almost completely preventable.  


There are three basic things that are required to avoid this fate in California.  One is that we need—and I highlight this, and a number of the other speakers spoke to it—we need to develop strong state public health leadership.  Leadership is not just having a leader.  It’s vesting that leader with the power and authority to essentially conduct public health in a manner that has not been conducted in California.  


And I’ll just take a brief aside here.  I have the privilege of having the perspective of having been a local health officer in another state where there was a separate department of public health—the state of Connecticut—where we happened to live through the anthrax reality with an actual case, and we also experienced the West Nile the same year that it first came to North America.  Having a separate department of public health in Connecticut made a huge difference, as with a state public health officer.  That public health officer led the entire investigation of the anthrax case that killed the elderly woman in Connecticut as well as the lead spokesperson for the West Nile epidemic.  Connecticut, I think, had very good leadership during that time and continues to have good leadership.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you actually believe that the surgeon general model is one that actually has value?


DR. ITON:  Yes.  The term “surgeon general” I think is a little archaic, but the state public health officer has huge value.  I came to California and was surprised that there was no voice for public health at the state level.  There was no real leadership.  There were occasionally voices that were in conflict coming from the state health department.  There are great people in the state health department in California who are very frustrated that there’s no leadership.  And I highlight professional leadership because I think it’s important for public credibility.


Now that I’ve said that, I can skip to my next point.


The second point is strategic investments and prevention.  What we don’t have in California is a plan for prevention.  We don’t have a plan for public health.  So, we don’t have a strategy for effectively carrying out public health.  We have been very fortunate in California that there have been some truly gifted leaders in public health who have fought through the morass and come up with ways of strategizing around tobacco, for instance.  Tobacco in California has set, essentially, not only a standard for the nation but a standard for the world, and we’ve seen the payback.  We’ve gotten now good evidence in chronic disease prevention, in mortality, in tobacco-related disease.  We’re clearly benefiting from California’s forward vision on tobacco.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The sad statement and the sad reality is though, however, we dismantled a lot of those prevention programs last year as we were finally seeing these incredible numbers and statistics.  I am so fearful of the fact that we haven’t restored funding in these programs in the department.  We really are the jewel of the nation and in many respects the world.  I think their analogies, whether one agrees politically or not, was sort of how we get ahead of the curve on the obesity challenge.


DR. ITON:  Your point is so well taken.  We will not be able to parlay that stunning success in tobacco into the more complex domains such as nutrition, physical activity, and health disparities elimination unless we develop a structure for some real leadership in this state.  It goes without saying—we’re not going to get lucky twice.


The third point is ensuring a commitment to statewide planning, and that’s critical, and it’s part of leadership.  But what we don’t have in California, as I mentioned, is any vision that’s laid out for how do we get people to work together?  You take complex issues like, again, obesity.  You can name all of the issues that require complex interdisciplinary planning:  health disparities, obesity, environmental justice, violence prevention, infant mortality, homelessness.  All of these things require interdisciplinary planning at the local level.  That won’t happen.  People don’t come to the table easily and for sustained periods of time unless there’s some state plan; unless there’s some state leadership on these issues.  So, we need the state to come together to help us as a state to plan around these complex public health issues.  There’s no way to do that when the state public health function is buried somewhere in the Health Services Agency in the state.  


I’m going to leave it there.  I have written testimony, which I’ll leave, which is basically a summary of what I said.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll make sure that gets to all the members that were here and not here.  Your testimony is always compelling, so I appreciate it.


DR. ITON:  Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Cohn has left, and I wanted to thank her publicly for spending time in the committee.  As always, Senator Vincent is here to be helpful.  He’s one of our biggest supporters of these informational hearings.  A lot of our colleagues are watching from, hopefully, their offices.  There’s a lot of meetings—it’s that time of the year—but thank you for being a part of this.


Welcome.


MS. MARTA McKENZIE:  Thank you.


Marta McKenzie, again from the far north.  I’m almost to the Oregon border, although not quite.  I see a colleague from Siskiyou County here, so he’s all the way north.


I represent a small rural health jurisdiction.  We’re only about 175,000 population.  We did have our tuberculosis funding withdrawn entirely because we managed to make it below ten cases, but we did manage to save enough money to build a public health laboratory.  Ours was 1957 in age, and we just replaced it with a state of the art.  About three weeks ago we actually moved in.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Was that with the infusion of the federal dollars?


MS. McKENZIE:  We received a small amount of the federal dollars to go towards a bioterrorism suite; otherwise, we financed it entirely with vehicle license fees, which were another challenge of the last year for us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, you got in under the wire.


MS. McKENZIE:  We did.  Fortunately, we had it banked and planned on it and paid for in advance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good for you.


MS. McKENZIE:  Thank you again for having us.  Public health is wonderfully important, and most of us who do it do it for lots of reasons that have less to do with long hours away from our families and more to do with the compelling need to improve the health of Californians.  We face a daunting task trying to keep our populations healthy in the face of threats and circumstances as diverse as new biological agents and emerging diseases but also things like mass fast-food advertising, sedentary lifestyles, and poor civic planning.  Our world is a complex array of social and other factors that contribute to the health of populations.


I’d like to make three major points today.  I do support various components of the Little Hoover Commission and some of the RAND report.  I’m a little disappointed that the RAND report was only released yesterday, but there are many salient points in that report.


Public health, I think, needs and deserves a separate attention.  I was fascinated by the dialogue from what I consider the healthcare delivery system because about 97 cents on the dollar in America goes to the healthcare delivery system, and about a penny goes to public health and the other two-or-so cents to research.  When you really talk about preventing dollars being expended unnecessarily, if we were to invest more in the public health side, we’d be saving a whole lot of money in the healthcare delivery side just from savings in preventing the burden of disease and absolute medical costs.


I’m supportive of a lead physician in the state department, but I’m not so supportive of it as a department head.  I’m very afraid of the politicization and administrative burdens of a physician.  In my jurisdiction, we have a very healthy relationship between my administrative and financial responsibilities, as well as I carry my own license.  I happen to be a public health nutritionist who feels very guilty that the obesity train moved down the track long before we were paying very much attention to it.  It has been sneaking up on us for a long period of time, and we’re just now recognizing that we didn’t pay enough attention soon enough to the issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, the stats show that those of us who are baby boomers—it’s that generation that saw that huge growth figuratively and literally.  But yes, the baby boomers apparently are the generation that’s creating the greatest burden.  So, we all need to take responsibility.


MS. McKENZIE:  Anyway, I sincerely support a high-level, state surgeon general/health officer.  I’m not sure that I care so much about the title, but I don’t want it to be as burdened with the political overtones and responsibilities.  I think at the federal level we have a good example of a federal surgeon general who, while he’s at the whim, I think, of who’s in the White House, does have some freedom from running the CDC or the NIH, who doesn’t have that responsibility, and can work independently and make good recommendations.


Secondly, though I’m very supportive and appreciative of Little Hoover and RAND, I do think they unduly concentrated on the emergency preparedness and infectious disease aspects of public health.  And while I heard the physician speak earlier about they saw it as a view into public health, I disagree with the appropriate view of public health.  The number of times that we’ve actually convened an incident command structure in our local health department is a very rare situation.  More often, we’re working on the multitude of challenging issues like how do we approach a school board about soda contracts or about closed campuses, or how do we help our parks, trails, and open-space plan pass the local city council and the planning commission, or we’re brainstorming issues like that that don’t necessarily focus on the incident command structure and the types of things that you’d be working on in bioterrorism and infectious disease preparedness.


I wanted to give you a little bit of a statistic about what happens in my local jurisdiction as reflective of what’s California’s.  Our statistics are not too different.  Communicable diseases kill about 100 people a year compared to the 1,500 or so that die from smoking, poor nutrition, and inactivity; the remainder from injury—the most notable among those being motor vehicle crash deaths.  We’ve, unfortunately, had a large number in our teenage population recently, which is another whole area that it takes a diverse set of skills in working with youth and trying to develop some of those resiliency factors to make them make healthy decisions long into their lifetime.


If I were to concentrate staff, obviously I’d be working with fifteen times more staff working on social marketing campaigns, policy and systems change, faith-based initiatives, and so forth.  I was very grateful to hear tobacco used as a model, but I also want to emphasize, in the process of formulating a model, it’s imperative that we not have a state public health department that sees itself as the complete oversight and dictum of what public health in California will be.  I think there’s a lot of opportunity for leadership to be shared between local governments and the state.


The last point I want to make is about involvement of community in the process.  One of the most powerful things, I think, about the Partnership for the Public’s Health and its success has been the enlightenment of those of us in governments that without the partnership of the community groups who worked with us in trying to improve health.  It didn’t matter how many people worked within the halls of public health.  We weren’t going to change health behavior and risk in California without meaningful engagement and empowerment of those community groups to work with us.  The example of the school board—I could send my health officer or myself or any one of a number of staff into a school board meeting, but with twenty moms and dads sitting there next to the school board hammering for soda machines to be removed, absolutely that’s going to happen to a much greater extent than however many words I say in that same venue.


I’ve been very fortunate in my twenty-five-year career to work with some incredibly strong state leaders and some incredibly poor state leaders.  Some of those seem to have kind of a patriarchal view, I think, of what local public health departments can do in California and the partnership that I really think we need to share in improving health in California.


So, I want to suggest, I guess, in the process that you look at a system where we can be more equal partners.  Tobacco has been successful because the locals and the state together forged some central focuses that we could work on in collaboration with state-provided leadership and policy direction and legislative opportunities, and we worked at the ground level to ensure that those things happened at the local level.


When states have truly embraced locals as meaningful partners, involve us in decision-making, and value the divergence of opinions in California, we will truly make a larger stride toward health improvement.


And with that, I think I’ll end and thank you for your time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony.


Glenna, I think we need to recruit these two individuals to come to Sacramento and hopefully play a role in our schools and our community collaborations because it’s essential that those of us who are here caring about these things also understand a way to make the linkages with community that has to incorporate these in a changing culture, particularly in impacted communities, which is always my frustration as I do nutritional standards, obesity prevention, sodas in schools, the linkages between the academicians who really understand the policy and how we change culture at the community level.


So, come to Sacramento.  Glenna, we’ll just find a position to hire them into, won’t we?  [Laughter.]


MS. McKENZIE:  No, thank you.  I like the view of Mt. Shasta.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.


We were going to ask Dr. Flores to come forward.  If there’s any public comment, your time would be after Dr. Flores. 


Welcome.


DR. GEORGE FLORES:  Good afternoon.  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for joining us.


DR. FLORES:  I’m really addressing you as a representative of the California Endowment today, and because you had addressed a particular question, I’d like to respond to that and then make one more comment.


First of all, we were pleased to support the RAND report.  We believe that there’s a tremendous amount of trust and credibility in the RAND’s work.  They have an international reputation that is without peer, and we feel strongly that the findings are worthwhile and of great importance to the State of California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And they’ve been patiently sitting through the full hearing, and I thank them for that.


DR. FLORES:  You had pointed out that the Endowment does support the pipeline for workforce and asked a question whether we were involved in providing for the public health workforce as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And including the lab directors component of it.


DR. FLORES:  Well, specific to public health, we do have a fellowship program in conjunction with Harvard School of Public Health where policy leadership is being developed.  It’s a small program.  


With regard to the health workforce in general, there are many things that are pointing to improved cultural diversity and competency in the health workforce in general, and public health is a part of that.


With regard to government workforce, however, and government public health workers, the California Endowment takes a broader view of public health, and this gets to my second point.  It is clear that the job of protecting and promoting the health of the public is a multi-sector responsibility.  We are no longer talking about a government-exclusive function.  The job is too big, too important, and far too complex for government alone to pretend that it can solve all of every community’s problems.  There simply isn’t the resource nor expertise.  We therefore look in tobacco to the Lung Association and the heart associations and community groups.  We look in obesity to schools, to faith groups, to exercise groups that are in the private sector.  We look to universities and we look to many, many other partners in the community that are part of the private sector.


As Marta McKenzie had pointed out to you, very close partners to public health is essential for getting our job done, and this is where the California Endowment is putting its resources:  in developing the capacity and the strength in communities, whether it be in public health departments or it be in community groups, to work together collaboratively to address the health needs of the public.  To protect and promote the health of the public, public-private partnerships is what’s going to make our community strong and particularly in those places where people are disenfranchised and underserved.  We need their participation.  We need the strength and certainly the strength of diversity in leveraging Endowment’s investments, public investments, other private industry, and business to invest in the health of the public.


It’s only through that kind of a combination that we’re going to get to where we need to be in order to improve the health of the public.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you for that.  I again want to thank the Endowment publicly for everything they’ve done.  They’ve stepped forward and are ahead of the curve in a lot of ways.


Let me also mention that California Wellness has a pipeline development program as well where they also have committed to acknowledging and supporting those who are particularly serving in underserved areas as part of the capacity building of our healthcare needs, particularly in underserved areas.


With that, let me ask whether or not—and don’t feel compelled if it’s unnecessary—whether there’s public comment on any of the speakers and testimony here today.  There is?  Okay, come forward.


Welcome.  You’ve been patient throughout the day, and I appreciate it.


MS. MARIA CASEY:  Good afternoon.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good afternoon.


MS. CASEY:  Thanks for hearing me.


I’m Maria Casey, and I’m director of the Partnership for the Public’s Health and am a colleague of many, many people in this room; those who work directly with the Partnership for the Public’s Health and others that we work with as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can we steal you also?  [Laughter.]  Wonderful, wonderful representatives here.


MS. CASEY:  I just want to offer an additional resource.  All of the presenters thus far, except for the folks with RAND, have been directly connected with the public health system in California in one way or another.


I want to offer as well the many people that George spoke about who are also working at the community level and are very savvy and I think could be strong supporters, different kinds of supporters, of expanding and strengthening the public health system both at the state level and at the local level as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Careful what you offer.  We may just take advantage of it.


MS. CASEY:  We’d be happy to do it.  It would have been wonderful today to have had a community panel.  If there is anything that I would add to legislation—858, if it’s possible, or any future legislation—is a component that indeed institutionalizes the regular participation of the community.  I think it’s something that. . . . we talk about it.  Sometimes there are token representatives from the community.  I think that we need to move beyond just science and really incorporate all of the sectors that comprise what we define now as a public health system.


I sent you these materials, and I want to leave you with more.  If there are members of your committee, et cetera, we can certainly . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to have the sergeant take those from you.  My staff usually steals them, and I don’t get to see them until somebody else tells me that they sent them.


MS. CASEY:  Thank you.  Two of the documents reflect a policy agenda that we came up with in concert with our colleagues with the Partnership for the Public’s Health, and one is just a fact sheet that just gives you a snapshot of information about the Partnership.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS. CASEY:  And I just want you to know—anytime you want to call—and I want to thank Andrea for allowing us to present.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, well, we really appreciate the work you’re doing, and let me just say that my staff has been pretty awesome on this, particularly Andrea.  She’s lived with the variations of the public health infrastructure.  Roger’s been also.  She’s actually lived with it longer, though, and we’ve kind of been toiling away with this stuff.  But thank you for what you bring to the committee, and we will take into consideration your recommendations if we can wade through all of this.  Again, thank you for what you’re doing.


MS. CASEY:  And thank you for your leadership.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


Well, let me just now take a moment to thank everybody that was on the panel.  It’s long and lengthy.  Maybe I’m the only one who loves digging through this stuff, but all the witnesses have brought value—the RAND report as well as the Little Hoover Commission report and LAO and all of the partners that have been part of trying to fashion this concept to see whether we can actually have it realized.  You’ve all provided invaluable support.


The next challenge, of course, is sorting through the points of disagreement or contention and determining whether our window of time indeed is this year.  You know, we’re in the midst of this CPR with no commitment or no sign one way or the other with the administration, but at least, I think, based on what we’ve seen thus far certainly some progress in the department—at least going in this direction, whether it’s this model or not.  


Let me also say that we did have some strong leadership in the previous administration.  I think Director Bontá actually brought a lot of focus in the former administration with the concept of public health coming out of a public health background.  So, it’s been little steps, and let’s hope that, again, that window of time and that opportunity opens up in the next year or two to actually realize some of these concepts. 


With that, let me ask Senator Vincent if he has any comments or questions.  Let me thank him again.  He’s always there.


It’s great to see you here, Glenna.  If we need any help to get you more funding locally, then I’m willing to go in there so they can tell me, Sure, they’ll get more funding when the state gets more funding.  But thank you for the work you do here in Sacramento and all of you.


With that, unless there are other questions or comments, this committee hearing is adjourned.
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